IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL AUGUSTUS HOWELL,	
Appellant,	
vs.	Case No. SC03-103
STATE OF FLORIDA,	(L. C. No. 92-022-CF)
Appellee.	/

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR JEFFERSON COUNTY, FLORIDA, DENYING APPELLANT'S FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.850 MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCES, INCLUDING A DEATH SENTENCE, AFTER AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

CLYDE M. TAYLOR, JR. 211 East Call Street

Tallahassee, FL 32301

Tel: (850) 224-1191 FX: (850) 681-6362

Fla. Bar No. 129747

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant Paul Augustus Howell was the defendant in the lower tribunal. He will be referred to as "Howell" or the "defendant." Appellee, the State of Florida, was the plaintiff in the lower tribunal. It will be referred to as "the state."

The record on appeal is in three volumes. Volume I contains the pleadings filed in the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 proceeding in the lower tribunal. Reference thereto will be by the letter "R" followed by a page number provided by the clerk of circuit court and appearing in the middle at the bottom of each page. Volume II contains the transcript of the November 27, 2002 evidentiary hearing on the 3.850 motion. References thereto will be by the letters "EH" (for evidentiary hearing) followed by a page number appearing in the lower right hand corner of each page as provided by the court reporter. Volume III contains defendant's Exhibit 1 introduced in evidence during the post conviction 3.850 proceeding, a Florida Highway Patrol Policy Manual. It will be referred to as the "FHP Manual" followed by the appropriate numbered paragraph of the manual.

Reference to the original record on appeal will be by the letters "OR" followed by a page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

A. Nature of the Case:

This is a direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida of a January 2, 2003 final order (R. 181-86) rendered by the trial court denying Howell's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure motion to vacate and set aside his convictions and sentences, including a death sentence, filed per the provisions of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851.

B. <u>Course of the Proceedings</u>:

On February 19, 1992, Howell was indicted by a Jefferson County, Florida grand jury and charged with, among other offenses, first degree murder (Count I) and making, possessing, placing or discharging a destructive device resulting in the death of another person (Count II). (OR. 1086-90) On October 18, 1994, after a guilt phase jury trial, Howell was found guilty as charged on both counts. (OR. 975-78) A penalty phase jury trial was then held. On October 21, 1994, the jury returned a death recommendation by a vote of 10-2. (OR. 1022-24) The trial court, Hon. F. E. Steinmeyer, III, Circuit Judge, sentenced Howell to death on Count I. The trial court declined to impose a sentence as to Count II because this conviction and the murder conviction both arose from a single underlying offense. Written findings in support of the imposition of the death sentence were filed on January 10, 1995 (OR. 1097-106) and February 13, 1995 (OR. 1152-61) respectively.

Howell took a direct appeal to this Court. (R. 141) As to the guilt phase of the trial, Howell claimed that he was entitled to a new trial since his counsel, Frank Sheffield, Esq., had a conflict of interest due to a pretrial death threat he (Sheffield) said was made against him supposedly on Howell's behalf. Howell also challenged several¹ of the statutory aggravators that were applied under Section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes (1993) by the trial court in sentencing him to death.

On February 12, 1998, Howell's convictions, judgments and death sentence, were affirmed by this Court. *Howell v. State*, 707 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1998). On June 26, 1998, the Supreme Court of the United States denied Howell's petition for writ of certiorari. (R. 141-42.)

After being afforded until August 30, 1999 by this Court within which to do

Howell claimed it was error for the trial court to determine that he had knowingly created great risk of death or serious injury to many people, that he committed the homicide to avoid arrest, that the trooper was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties and that the CCP factor applied. He also asserted that his death sentence was not proportional to the sentences imposed against his co-defendants. *Howell*, 707 So. 2d at 680-82.

so (R. 6), Howell sought collateral post conviction relief in the trial court. On August 30, 1999, Howell filed a Motion to Vacate Judgments and Sentences with a special request to amend per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. (R. 1-108) On October 15, 2002, Howell filed a First Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence. (R. 115-22) On November 7, 2002, the state filed a Reply to Defendant's Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence with request for leave to amend. (R. 123-39)

On November 22, 2002, the trial court presided over an evidentiary hearing on certain issues raised in Howell's 3.850 motions. (EH 1-60) On December 12, 2002, Howell filed a written final argument in support of the relief sought. (R. 140-80)

C. <u>Disposition in Lower Tribunal</u>:

On January 2, 2003, the trial court rendered an Order denying Howell's motion for post conviction relief. (R. 181-86)

On January 8, 2003, Howell filed a notice of appeal to this Court along with directions to the clerk and designations to the court reporter. (R. 187-89, 191-93) On January 9, 2003, Howell filed a statement of judicial acts to be reviewed. (R. 190-190B)

D. <u>Statement on Jurisdiction</u>:

This Court has jurisdiction to review the lower tribunal's denial of Howell's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion to vacate and set aside his judgments of conviction and sentences, including a death sentence, per the provisions of Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution, and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(g).

E. <u>Standard of Appellate Review</u>:

This is a post conviction capital case involving mixed questions of law and fact. As such, the circuit court final Order (R. 181-86) denying Howell's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motions appealed from is subject to plenary, *de novo* review except that deference is given to the trial court's findings of fact so long as there is competent and substantial evidence to support same. *Johnson v. Moore*, 789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001); *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001) *Rose v. State*, 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996).

F. <u>Statement of the Facts</u>:

The basic facts of the homicide are found in this Court's opinion in *Howell* v. *State*, 707 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1989) and the record. Howell provides a synopsis of same below in order to put the case in perspective.

In January of 1992, Howell, who had been involved in drug activity based out of the Ft. Lauderdale area, supposedly constructed a bomb for the purpose of killing Tammie Bailey, a drug associate, who lived in Marianna, Florida. (R. 123; *Howell v. State*, 707 So. 2d at 676.) Bailey apparently posed a danger to Howell

since she was a witness to a prior crime that he allegedly committed. *Id.* The bomb was placed in a microwave oven that was gift-wrapped. *Id.* Lester Watson, who testified that he thought that the package contained drugs, was assigned to drive it to Marianna in a vehicle that Howell rented for that purpose. *Id.*

While traveling to Marianna, Watson and a passenger were stopped on Interstate 10 in Jefferson County by Florida Highway Patrol Trooper Jimmy Fulford. (R. 124; *Howell v. State*, 707 So. 2d at 676.) Two Jefferson County deputy sheriffs arrived to assist the trooper, and Watson gave them permission to search the car (but not necessarily the wrapped package). *Id.* Watson gave the officers a false name because he did not have a driver's license. *Id.* Watson was arrested for lack of a valid driver's license and taken by the deputies to the Jefferson County Jail near Monticello leaving only Trooper Fulford at the scene. *Id.*

According to state forensic experts, Fulford thereafter must have removed the gift-wrapped package from the vehicle, unwrapped it, opened the box and taken the microwave out of the box. *Id.* When he opened the microwave door, it exploded, killing him instantly. *Id.*

At the conclusion of the penalty phase, the trial court determined that the state had proven five statutory aggravating factors within the context of Section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes (1993): Howell knowingly created a great risk of death to many people; the homicide was committed during the commission of another designated felony; the murder was committed to avoid prosecution or arrest; the victim was a law enforcement officer killed in the course of his official duties; and the crime was committed in an especially cold, calculated and premeditated manner (the "heightened premeditation" or "CCP" aggravating factor). (R. 125; *Howell v. State*, 707 So. 2d at 677.) The trial court determined that Howell had established two statutory mitigating circumstances per the provisions of Section 921.141(6), Florida Statutes (1993): He lacked a significant prior criminal history and at the time of the homicide, he was under the influence of extreme emotional or mental disturbance. *Id.*

The testimony and documentary evidence presented during the November 22, 2002 evidentiary hearing on Howell's 3.850 motion are summarized below.

William Pfeiffer, Esq. represented Howell in the multi-count, multi-defendant federal racketeering and conspiracy trial that emanated from many of the same facts and circumstances in the case at bar. (EH 6-7) Pfeiffer assumed the representation from Frank Sheffield, Esq. on very short notice after jury selection had been completed. *Id.* Sheffield had just been granted permission to withdraw due to a conflict of interest asserted by Sheffield himself.² (EH 6) Pfeiffer moved for a

Sheffield contended that he had received a death threat and he believed that it

continuance of the trial but the motion was denied. (EH 7)

In the process of preparing for trial, Pfeiffer reviewed a Florida Highway Patrol Policy Manual (Vol. II of the record on appeal here, Defense Ex. 1 in evidence during the evidentiary hearing) including Section 11.04 thereof. (EH 7-8)

This section provided that troopers were not permitted to open locked or securely wrapped luggage, packages and containers seized in traffic stops unless otherwise provided for by law or consented to. *Id.* He did not recall discussing this matter with Sheffield. (EH 11) Pfeiffer filed a motion to suppress all of the evidence seized from the search of the vehicle on that basis but the federal judge denied the motion for lack of standing. (EH 8) After the federal trial was completed, Howell wrote to Pfeiffer asking him to represent him in the state murder trial as well, but this request was denied. (EH 9)

Frank Sheffield, Esq., Howell's state court trial counsel, was the next witness during the evidentiary hearing. He was at the time of the trial an experienced criminal trial lawyer. He had handled between 15 and 20 capital murder cases during his career. (EH 17) He confirmed that the state trial related to the homicide of Trooper Fulford while the federal trial related to drug conspiracy and racketeering. (EH 18, 19)

Sheffield was questioned about the defenses he offered during the trial both at the guilt and penalty phases. (EH 16-74) He indicated that his investigation of the facts caused him to conclude that the evidence of Howell's guilt was overwhelming. (EH 46) He pointed out that Howell had ruled out attempting an insanity defense. *Id.* His strategy during the innocence/guilt phase was to argue that Howell did not actually make the bomb and, therefore, he was not guilty of first-degree premeditated murder. (EH 19) Sheffield argued that ownership of the package containing the bomb should be attributed to Patrick Howell, the defendant's brother. (EH 32) Sheffield insisted that Patrick Howell was the leader of the drug conspiracy and the one who ordered that the bomb be delivered to Marianna. (EH 32) Sheffield also attempted to shift blame for the trooper's death to Lester Watson, the driver of the vehicle. Sheffield testified in this regard at EH 55:

Based upon what I knew in this case from my discovery in this case and conversations with witnesses, I always felt that Lester Watson was the most guilty because he knew exactly what was in that package, and he was the one that was staring Trooper Fulford directly in the eye, and he didn't say anything.

came from those associated with Howell. *Howell v. State*, 707 So. 2d at 677.

However, Sheffield acknowledged that Howell was contacted by the dispatcher (prior to the explosion) because the car was rented in his name (EH 38) and confirmed that Howell told the dispatcher that Watson had his permission to drive it. (EH 38)

Sheffield vaguely recalled that there was testimony that Howell had been stopped in a rental car about a year earlier in Marianna and was warned by the Chief of Police that if stopped again in that town, his car would be searched. (EH 37-8)

Sheffield agreed that defense attorneys are often faced with a situation where they have very little to work with in the way of defenses, and have to resort to whatever is available, even though that might be unpopular in the community where the case is being tried. (EH 45) He believed that a culpable negligence defense on the part of the trooper was not viable in this case. (EH 45) He did concede, however, that since the driver and passenger were arrested and taken to jail and the vehicle was to be impounded, there was no reason for Trooper Fulford to open the package. (EH 30)

Sheffield explored the defense of intervening cause and effect (relating to whether Trooper Fulford had the authority to open the subject wrapped package) and whether his client actually intended to kill Trooper Fulford. (EH 19) He acknowledged that the trooper's search of the package was in violation of FHP policy but decided not to argue that issue after discussing it with Howell. (EH 26, 28-9) He stated that his reasons for not presenting this kind of defense included the fact that the case was a very emotional one in the Jefferson County community, especially among representatives of law enforcement since it involved the death of a popular state trooper. (EH 21) He felt that if he blamed Trooper Fulford for his own death, it would backfire and hurt Howell's chances for an acquittal. (EH 21) He added that because items relating to child care were found in the trunk of the rented car, there was an impression that Trooper Fulford might have felt duty-bound to open the package because he was concerned about a child's welfare. (EH 34) Sheffield noted:

[b]ecause the way the package came about is that Tammy Bailey - and I believe she was the one in Marianna - had just had a baby, and there was an attempt to get her to come back down to Broward County. Bus money had been sent down to her and she had spent the money. And, finally, the third or fourth call to her the comment was made, "We just want to give you something for the baby." She said, "Well, send me a microwave to use to heat up the bottles." (EH 39)

Sheffield maintained his position that an intervening cause defense would be

harmful to the client even though the trial was moved to Escambia County. (EH 22) He did not think that this defense would support the opportunity for a conviction of a lesser-included offense. (EH 23) During the penalty phase hearing, he again declined to present the issue (the violation of FHP protocol by the trooper) as a non-statutory mitigator because he believed there to be a very proprosecution mind set in the Escambia County jurors, who would be inflamed were the trooper blamed for his own death.³ (EH 24) However, Sheffield believed and was in concurrence with Dean Morphonios, Esq., (counsel for one of Howell's codefendants) that there was obviously a violation of the FHP policy manual by the trooper in opening the wrapped package. (EH 29, 30)

The only defense he presented was a challenge to the reliability of the state's witness, Lester Watson, who cut a deal with the state for a lesser sentence. Sheffield said that he tried to show that Watson was the only person claiming to have seen Howell make the bomb and his testimony could not be trusted. (EH 46 - 7) When he was reminded that several other witnesses besides Watson testified that Howell made the bomb, talked about a bomb in a microwave and otherwise implicated himself in the crime, Sheffield admitted:

There were. But I have never tried a murder case at any time that I can recall that there weren't witnesses that directly pointed and said, "this

As argued below, Sheffield seriously underestimated the ability of the jury in this case to follow the law even if it involved acquitting the defendant based upon a defense that might not be popular in some circles.

guy is the one that did it." And many, many times you use credibility of witnesses to attack the witnesses that say that, and I have many people walking the street right now that were acquitted because of it. (EH 47)

Sheffield admitted that at the time of the federal trial he was fearful of his client, and withdrew because he had received a threat and because of the intimidating degree of security that resulted from it. (EH 50-1) However, by the time of the state trial in Jefferson County, the security was much more relaxed and he was not as frightened. (EH 51) When asked whether his earlier fear of his client might have caused him to be less than totally committed to defending him in the state trial, Sheffield replied that he was committed and that he stayed on the case because Pfeiffer lacked his experience in capital cases as well as his personal knowledge of the facts based upon the preparation he (Sheffield) had already done. (EH 52)

It was pointed out that the penalty phase ended in the finding of two key statutory mitigators⁴ and that two of the jurors did not vote for death. He was then asked why he did not put Howell on the stand to say that he did not intend to kill the trooper. (EH 53, 54) Sheffield responded:

I didn't think in this case that I ever had the opportunity to get a recommendation other than death when I realistically looked at the facts in this case. I thought to put Mr. Howell on the witness stand

7

That Howell did not have an extensive prior criminal record and that, at the time of the homicide, he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

based upon his prior conduct in court would be disastrous. (EH 54)

Regarding the issue of a possible search and seizure violation, Sheffield was asked about the extent to which consent was obtained to open the package containing the bomb. (EH 25) He answered that Watson gave consent to search the car and the trunk, but he did not recall whether Watson gave specific consent to open the package. (EH 25) He reiterated that Howell's motion to suppress the search of the vehicle was denied for lack of standing in the federal case, and that this ruling was adopted by the trial court in the state case. (EH 35) Sheffield said that the state's position was that when Watson consented to the search of the vehicle, by definition that authorized the search of all packages located therein. (EH 37) According to Sheffield, whether the trooper was authorized to open the package was not relevant because:

My understanding is that those packages were going to be opened by law at some point. Just depended upon whether it happened on the side of the road or at an impound lot. (EH 37)

Sheffield confirmed that Trooper Fulford did not call for back up or for a dog to sniff for drugs or explosives. (EH 32) Had there been no bomb, the security of the contents would have been subject to challenge, according to this witness. (EH 32)

Sheffield stated that, during the penalty phase he resisted the issue of transferred intent, arguing as a mitigating factor that there was no intent to harm Trooper Fulford. (EH 33, 40) However, he could not get around the issue of

foreseeability claimed by the state, in that, given the size and other circumstances of the bomb, Howell had to know that someone was going to be killed. (EH 40, 41) As noted above, Sheffield had been advised that this was not the first experience Howell had with making a bomb. (EH 41)

Sheffield conceded that non-statutory mitigation is a flexible area and it can be as creative as the judge will allow. (EH 41) He conceded that for non-statutory mitigation, issues of intervening cause and effect and transferred intent could be raised. (EH 41) He also acknowledged that the issue of contributory or comparative negligence could be raised during the penalty phase as well. (EH 41, 42)

Sheffield confirmed that he had the opportunity to read the witness statements and police reports and to take depositions prior to trial. (EH 42)

None of that information revealed that Howell was asked about the package or that he was asked for consent to search anything related to the vehicle when the authorities first contacted him. (EH 42-3)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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