# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### PAUL AUGUSTUS HOWELL,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC03-103

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT JEFFERSON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

#

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

Trial counsel was questioned regarding the threat he received during his representation of Howell in the federal case. (PC Vol. II 48). He did not think Paul Howell was personally involved in the threat. (PC Vol. II 49). The U.S. Marshals wanted to put him and his family in protective custody. (PC Vol. II 50). It was their reaction that scared him. (PC Vol. II 50). He had informed the federal judge that he and Howell were antagonistic. (PC Vol. II 50). He could not concentrate on the federal case. (PC Vol. II 51). He was no longer worried by the time of the State murder trial. (PC Vol. II 51). The security in Jefferson County where the State murder trial started was "like Mayberry with Barney Fife" which calmed him down. (PC Vol. II 50). He takes death penalty work very seriously and he would never take a capital case that he could not give "100% efforts to" (PC Vol. II 52). He did not think that Mr. Pfeiffer had the experience or the capability to handle the case and he did. (PC Vol. II 52).

Collateral counsel filed a written closing argument after the evidentiary hearing. (PC Vol. I 140-180). The trial court rejected this claim of ineffectiveness ruling that the claim was procedurally barred. Alternatively, the trial court ruled that

because the search was consensual, the Florida Highway Patrol Manual did not apply and reasoned that Howell's asserting standing as to the package would undermine Howell's lack of knowledge defense. (PC Vol. I 184).

### <u>Merits</u>

First, the defense of contributory negligence of the victim is not viable as a matter of law. Florida courts do not recognize such a defense. Parker v. State, 570 So.2d 1048, 1052 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (affirming trial court's exclusion of evidence of contributory negligence of the victim, who was a deputy involved in the high speed chase of the defendants, regarding the manner in which he set up the roadblock because the negligence of the police did not constitute a legally recognizable defense). Florida courts have rejected intervening cause defenses on much more compelling facts. In Klinger v. State, 816 So.2d 697, 698 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), the Second District affirmed a DUI manslaughter conviction rejecting an intervening cause defense as a matter of law. The defendant, who had a blood alcohol level of between .10 and .18, collided with the victim's vehicle, causing severe injuries to the The victim, conscious and alert, was taken to the hospital. The victim, who was a Jehovah's Witness, refused a blood transfusion. The victim did not receive the transfusion and died due to loss of blood. A doctor testified the victim's chance of survival, had he accepted a blood transfusion, was

between eighty-five and ninety percent. The defendant argued, on appeal, that he did not "cause" the victim's death because the victim would have lived if he had accepted the blood transfusion. The Second District found that the victim's refusal to accept the medical treatment was not an intervening cause of death. The Second District observed that "Florida courts have consistently rejected this argument."

Other States agree. In People v. Schmies, 44 Cal. App. 4th 38, 51 Cal. Rptr. 2d 185 (Cal. App 1996), a California appellate court affirmed a conviction for vehicular manslaughter. defendant, who had a revoked driver's license, engaged in a high speed chase with two highway patrol officers. One of the pursuing officer's patrol car struck another car, killing the driver. Defendant sought to introduce the Highway Patrol's pursuit policies to establish that the pursuing officer's conduct was not in compliance with the policies. found no error in the exclusion of the pursuit policies because whether the officers violated the CHP pursuit policies was immaterial. The Court reasoned that it was the defendant's illegal and dangerous act that caused the officers to pursue him and ultimately caused the fatal accident. The Court observed: "It adds not one whit to say that the officers violated the CHP pursuit guidelines" and "it is no defense to prove a rule violation." The Court explained that contributory negligence was not available as a defense. See also State v. Loveless, 738 N.E.2d 418 (Ohio App. 1999) (finding officer's failure to comply with departmental pursuit policy was not relevant, in an involuntary manslaughter prosecution, where defendant, who was driving a stolen car, led officers on a high speed chase, during which one officer ran a stop sign and killed the driver of a car).

Not strictly following FHP policy is not contributory negligence or an intervening cause. This type of argument is akin to an argument if the victim had not physically been there, they would not have gotten killed. While logically true, it is morally irrelevant. State v. Redden, 269 So.2d 415, 417 (Fla. 2d DCA 1972)(holding, in a manslaughter case, that contributory negligence is no defense and characterizing as fallacious an argument that if the child had not run into the road the accident would not have occurred,), overruled on different grounds, State v. Fulkerson, 300 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973). Criminal law simply does not recognize this type of defense. Nor should it. Wayne R. LaFave & Austin W. Scott, Jr, Criminal Law § 5.11(c) (2d ed. 1986)(stating that a contributory negligence defense has no place in criminal law).

Obviously, trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to present a defense that is not legally a defense. If trial counsel had attempted to present such a defense, the prosecutor would have objected on the grounds that it is not a defense and the trial court would have prohibited trial counsel from presenting any such defense. There is no deficient performance nor prejudice.

Howell's reliance on Eversley v. State, 748 So. 2d 963, 966-67 (Fla. 1999), is misplaced. IB at 22. Eversley was a manslaughter by neglect and felony child abuse prosecution. The infant contracted pneumonia and the mother did not take the infant to the hospital as instructed by the doctor. The Eversley Court affirmed the felony child abuse but reversed the manslaughter The Eversley Court would have affirmed the conviction. manslaughter conviction also under the current version of the manslaughter statute. This Court explained that the State must prove "but for" causation. This Court noted that the defendant can rebut this showing by demonstrating that the harm would have occurred in any event, regardless of the defendant's conduct. This helps Howell not one whit. Howell cannot show that Trooper Fulford would have died regardless of his conduct. Howell made the bomb that killed the trooper. Moreover, Eversley is an act of omission case, not, as here, an act of commission case. Criminal law often struggles with the former but criminal liability for acts of commission is standard.

Howell's reliance on *Velazquez v. State*, 561 So. 2d 347, 350 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), is equally misplaced. IB at 22. *Velazquez* was a conviction for vehicular homicide based on a drag race. The victim, who was driving his car 123 m.p.h. during the drag race, not wearing a seat belt and had a blood alcohol level between .11 and .12, crashed through a guardrail and died instantly. The Third District held that the victim killed himself by his voluntary and reckless driving. *Velazquez* is

factually distinguishable. Trooper Fulford was doing his duty, not engaging in drag racing or any other bad conduct. Moreover, the basic logic does not apply. The Third District quoted State v. Petersen, 522 P.2d 912, 920 (Ore. App. 1974), which observed people frequently join together in reckless conduct and as long as all participants do so knowingly and voluntarily, there is no point in holding the survivors guilty of manslaughter. Third District also quoted 1 W. LaFave and A. Scott, Substantive Criminal Law § 3.12, at 418 (1986), which observed that A should not, in all justice, be held liable for the death of B who was an equally willing and foolhardy participant in the bad conduct which caused his death." Trooper Fulford did not knowingly or willingly open a package containing a bomb. Additionally, he was doing his duty, not engaging in foolhardy conduct. There is every point, as well as justice, in holding Howell guilty of murder.

There is also no deficient performance nor prejudice from trial counsel's failure to present a contributory negligence defense as a mitigator in the penalty phase. Collateral counsel attempts to characterize this as non-statutory mitigation; however, it is actually a version of residual doubt. Residual doubt testimony may not be introduced at the penalty phase. Duest v. State, 2003 Fla. LEXIS 1069 (Fla. June 26, 2003)(citing Way v. State, 760 So. 2d 903, 916 (Fla. 2000) and Waterhouse v. State, 596 So. 2d 1008, 1015 (Fla. 1992)). While some traditional defenses may also be presented as mitigation, it is

because they focus on the defendant's conduct. For example, the defense of duress is also a statutory mitigator. But contributory negligence focuses on the victim's conduct, not the defendant's conduct, background or character. Mitigating evidence relates to the defendant's conduct, background or character and therefore, this evidence is not mitigating evidence. Thus, presenting this "mitigating" evidence is also precluded as a matter of law.

Furthermore, even if such a defense was legally viable, trial counsel made a reasonable strategic decision not to present the defense because the jury likely would perceive such a defense as blaming the victim. In Spencer v. State, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S35 (Fla. 2003), this Court held that it was a reasonable strategic decision to not present the defendant's stormy and antagonistic relationship with his wife, the victim, as a defense. The attorney feared the jury would perceive this defense as blaming the victim. This Court concluded that counsel did not render ineffective assistance.

Here, as in *Spencer*, the decision not to present this defense was a reasonable strategic decision. Here, as in *Spencer*, trial counsel testified that blaming Trooper Fulford for his own death would not be a viable defense and would hurt Mr. Howell's chances. (PC Vol. II 21,24). As trial counsel testified, such a defense would inflame the jury. This defense would be particularly offensive to a jury when applied to an officer acting in the line of duty. Basically, defense counsel would be

blaming the officer for doing his duty. Moreover, the prosecutor would have had a field day with any such defense. One can hear the prosecutor now asking: What would defense counsel have him do - walk away leaving a bomb where another person could have been killed? If the jury was not offended at first when defense counsel presented such a defense, they certainly would be by the time the prosecutor was finished responding to this defense. Counsel's decision was a reasonable, sound, trial strategy.

Collateral counsel argues that the purpose of the policy prohibiting troopers from opening closed containers was officer safety. IB at 21 & n. 9. That is not the stated purpose of the policy in the manual. The stated purpose of the policy in the manual is "to secure the owner's property and to protect the Department from claims." (PC Vol. III 11-3). The purposes of this policy is to keep evidence from being suppressed for a Fourth Amendment violation and to protect the department from § 1983 liability. The personal safety of the officer is not the

The law regarding whether consent to search includes closed containers, especially a gift-wrapped package, is unclear. Florida v. Wells, 495 U.S. 1, 109 L. Ed. 2d 1, 110 S. Ct. 1632 (1990)(holding search of locked suitcase in the trunk of a car violated the Fourth Amendment and explaining that if the police wish to search a car without a warrant to inventory its contents they must act in accordance with established procedures); Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 249, 114 L. Ed. 2d 297, 111 S. Ct. 1801 (1991)(finding the scope of consent to search a car extended to paper bag on the floor); But see State v. Wells, 539 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 1989)(finding the scope of consent to search a trunk of a car did not extend to a locked

purpose of the policy. Troopers do not routinely encounter gift-wrapped packages for a new baby that are actually bombs. There is no standard policy on this situation because it is not standard.

Collateral counsel argues that transferred intent does not apply and therefore, the State's premeditated theory of murder is invalid. IB at 24. This, of course, is a direct appeal issue and therefore, is procedurally barred. Cherry v. Dugger, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995)(explaining that a defendant may not raise the same arguments which were made, or should have been made, on direct appeal, in the guise of ineffective assistance of trial counsel). To the extent it is properly part of his ineffectiveness claim, any violation of FHP policy does not negate transferred intent. Collateral counsel is confusing causation with intent. They are two separate concepts. Contributory negligence is a defense that focuses on the victim's actions. Transferred intent, by contrast, is used by the prosecutor to establish the requisite intent and involves the mental state of the defendant, not the victim's actions. Lee v. State, 141 So.2d 257, 259 (Fla. 1962)(explaining that under the doctrine of transferred intent a defendant who kills a mistaken identity or accident, person through premeditated design to kill another, is guilty of murder in the

suitcase inside the trunk);  $Jacobs\ v.\ State$ , 733 So.2d 552 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)(limiting any consent to search to unlocked containers within plain view). The lack of clarity in the law is part of the basis for this policy.

first-degree because the law transfers the felonious intent in such a case to the actual object of his assault). Regardless of the Trooper's actions, Howell had the requisite intent.

Howell asserts that he is not quilty of felony murder because he made a bomb and the felony murder statute does not encompass making a bomb as one of the underlying felonies. IB at 16,25. Of course, this issue should have been raised on direct appeal, and therefore, is procedurally barred in collateral litigation. Howell cannot raise substantive challenges to his conviction under the rubric of an ineffectiveness claim. Cherry v. Dugger, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995)(explaining that a defendant may not raise the same arguments which were made, or should have been made, on direct appeal, in the guise of ineffective assistance of trial counsel). Furthermore, collateral counsel's argument is based on a misreading of the relevant statute. relevant statute is not the felony murder statute; rather, it is the making a destructive device statute. While the murder statute may omit the "making" from its language, the making, possessing, throwing, projecting, placing or discharging any destructive device statute does not. § 790.161(4), Fla. Stat. (1991). If a person dies as a result of making a destructive device, it is a capital felony pursuant to this statute. Howell

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  Howell was charged in Count II of the indictment with a violation of subsection (4) of this statute. The indictment gave notice that a violation of this subsection was also a capital crime. (R. Vol. I 15)

was guilty of capital murder because he made the bomb and a person died as a result.

Moreover, because the jury found Howell guilty of both premeditated and felony murder by special verdict, any flaw in the felony murder theory does not matter. The line of cases reversing first degree murder convictions when one of the theories is legally invalid involve general verdicts. Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298, 1 L. Ed. 2d 1356, 77 S. Ct. 1064 (1957) (holding a conviction under a general verdict is improper when it rests on multiple theories, one of which is legally invalid). Where, as here, there is a special verdict, any flaw in one theory does not undermine the validity of the other theory. United States v. Najjar, 300 F.3d 466, 480 n.3 (4th Cir. 2002) (explaining that a special verdict obviate any Yates problem). The premeditated theory is sufficient to sustain the first degree murder conviction, regardless of the felony murder theory.

Collateral counsel weaves strains of ineffectiveness and conflict of interest in this claim. IB at n.7. The conflict of interest issue was raised in the direct appeal and decided adversely to Howell. Therefore, the conflict of interest claim is procedurally barred. Jones v. Moore, 794 So. 2d 579, 583 n.6 (Fla. 2001)(finding several claims to be procedurally barred because they were decided adversely to the petitioner on direct appeal). Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court has recently clarified the concept of "conflict of interest".

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